STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Spartanburg County

Honorable Heath P. Taylor, Circuit Court Judge

---

DOMINICK ANTONIO THOMPSON,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-002125

---

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

DAVID ALEXANDER  
Deputy Chief Attorney for Capital Appeals

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**RECEIVED**

**May 30 2025**

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**

**ISSUE PRESENTED**

Did trial counsel's failure to make the proper argument that witnesses' credibility can be impeached with convictions under Rule 609, SCRE constitute ineffective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment?

## STATEMENT

Petitioner was indicted in Spartanburg County for first-degree burglary, a weapons charge, armed robbery, first-degree assault and battery, and ABHAN. After his first trial resulted in a hung jury before the Honorable Lee Alford, he was tried again on June 10, 2019, before the Honorable J. Derham Cole and a jury. App. 1. Lauren Brown and Spencer Smith represented the State and Joshua Schultz represented petitioner. App. 1. The jury convicted petitioner and he was sentenced to life imprisonment under the recidivist statute. App. 436-38.

After the unsuccessful conclusion of his direct appeal, petitioner filed a timely PCR application on July 27, 2022. On May 20, 2024, the Honorable Heath P. Taylor held a hearing. App. 466. Susannah C. Ross represented petitioner and D. Russell Barlow, II, represented the State. App. 466. On December 16, 2024, Judge Taylor denied relief. App. 522. This petition follows.

## ARGUMENT

Trial counsel's failure to make the proper argument that witnesses' credibility can be impeached with convictions under Rule 609, SCRE constituted ineffective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment.

Trial counsel waived the best argument he had for the impeachment of two critical witnesses (Summer Hall and Christine Richard) against petitioner. He conceded that the witnesses' convictions were not relevant to impeach their credibility which is contrary to the purpose of Rule 609, SCRE. App. 68-69. Petitioner can show prejudice because the State's first attempt to convict him resulted in a hung jury and, during that trial, the witnesses' convictions were used to impeach them, but not in the second trial before a different judge. App. 513-15.

Petitioner was charged with multiple crimes stemming from a robbery. Summer Hall was the State's first witness. On Thanksgiving Eve, November 23-24, 2016, Summer was staying in a hotel room in Spartanburg. App. 73. Also in the room were Summer's boyfriend Russell Donahue, her sister-in-law Christine Richard and Christine's boyfriend, Brandon Logan, and another man named Joseph. App. 74.

Christine was the State's second witness. Her cousin, Makayla Richard, sent her a message through Facebook wanting to buy marijuana. App. 103. Christine told Makayla she could find her some drugs, but Makayla would have to come to the hotel. App. 103. Makayla agreed and said she would send another message when she was on her way to the hotel. App. 104.

Makayla sent Christine a message when she arrived at the hotel. App. 104. Christine left the room and walked down the stairs to meet her. App. 104. She saw a black car pass and then

Makayla called and asked if they had just passed her. App. 104. Makayla said she would park and meet her at the steps. App. 104.

Makayla walked up and hugged Christine. App. 104. As they reached the top of the stairs, Christine saw “three black guys” running up the stairs. App. 104. The men attempted to pull hoods over their faces, but Christine claimed she could see all of their faces. App. 104. The men had a gun, took Christine’s necklace and phone, and told her if she did not take them into the hotel room, they would shoot her. App. 104-05.

Christine complied and Russell opened the door to the hotel room. App. 105. The men pushed Christine and Makayla inside. App. 105. Christine claimed she identified petitioner as the man with the gun. App. 105. Petitioner supposedly entered the room with the gun and pointed it at Summer while the other men began searching the room. App. 105.

Another man pistol whipped Brandon and then petitioner also pistol whipped him. App. 106. While petitioner was supposedly pistol whipping Brandon, the gun went off and the bullet hit Christine. App. 106-07. Everyone froze at the sound of the gunshot. App. 106. Then the assailants and Makayla fled. App. 106.

Summer did not know Makayla and had never met her. App. 76. She also claimed to be able to identify petitioner as the person who pointed a gun at her. App. 77. Summer said that on the night of the robbery, she did not know who any of the men were. App. 82. Christine also said that on the night of the robbery, she did not know any of the men. App. 109.

Christine testified that when she got to the hospital, she looked up Makayla’s Facebook account and eventually found petitioner’s profile. App. 110. Summer testified that she also used the same route through Facebook to identify petitioner by his online profile. App. 86. She could not identify the other two men. App. 86.

The night of the incident, Summer told the police that all she could see were the men's noses. App. 98-99. She admitted she never contacted the police with her Facebook identification of petitioner because she thought Christine had already relayed the information to the police. App. 96, 101.

The State charged Makayla with the same crimes as petitioner and those charges were still pending when she testified at petitioner's trial. App. 161. Makayla testified that she met petitioner about three weeks before the incident. App. 140. On the day of the robbery, petitioner came to her house with two men called "Swisher" and "Luke" who she had never met. App. 143. The conversation turned to acquiring marijuana and Makayla texted Christine. App. 143. Makayla said the plan was to take the drugs without paying for them. App. 144-45. Makayla minimized her role claiming she saw no weapons and that rushing into the hotel room was a surprise to her. App. 146-47.

Makayla admitted lying to the police several times. App. 170. She first told the police she was with a made-up friend on the other side of town. App. 157. On cross-examination, she agreed this story was "a bald-faced lie." App. 171. In the second statement she gave to the police, she admitted being at the hotel, but said she was with a friend named "Mall." App. 157. She did not tell the police petitioner was with her during this statement. App. 157-58. After getting arrested and seeing her mother arrested, Makayla gave the police petitioner's name. App. 158-59. Makayla admitted she hoped to "get a better deal" and avoid prison by testifying. App. 169.

Before testimony began, the solicitor informed the judge that he believed the defense intended to impeach Summer with a prior conviction for possession of methamphetamine. App. 65. The solicitor opposed the use of the conviction because it was prejudicial. App. 65. He said

the conviction had no probative value because it was a different drug from the marijuana involved in the incident and the defense wanted to use the conviction as “an attempt to sully her reputation.” App. 65-66.

Instead of arguing that the non-remote conviction was admissible to impeach Summer’s credibility, defense counsel made a convoluted argument that the prior drug conviction was probative of a drug deal happening in the hotel room. App. 66-69. Judge Cole asked defense counsel if he agreed that the meth conviction had “nothing to do with credibility or the likelihood of truth.” App. 68. Defense counsel agreed that the conviction did not fall under those exceptions. App. 68. Judge Cole pressed further, asking, “It doesn’t make her testimony more or less likely to be true because of that conviction. Is that what I am understanding you to agree with?” App. 69. Defense counsel replied, “That would be my understanding of the way the evidence rules are drafted.” App. 69. Judge Cole then ruled that the probative value of the conviction was outweighed by its prejudicial value and prohibited defense counsel from impeaching Summer with it. App. 69.

The discussion then proceeded immediately into the admissibility of Christine’s prior conviction for child neglect. App. 69-71. Defense counsel again failed to argue that the non-remote conviction was relevant to credibility in general and tried to tie the child neglect to drug use. App. 70-71. The judge refused to allow the conviction to be used for impeachment. App. 71. The court and the State agreed that Christine could be impeached with prior convictions for shoplifting. App. 71, 102.

At the PCR hearing, trial counsel said that during petitioner's first trial, which ended in a hung jury, impeachment of Hall and Richard was allowed.<sup>1</sup> App. 511-13. PCR counsel argued that the impeachment value of the convictions was important because Christine and Summer only identified petitioner through Facebook and that petitioner presented an alibi. App. 515. Petitioner also argued that when the priors were allowed in the first trial it resulted in a hung jury, but that petitioner was convicted when the impeachment was disallowed. App. 515. PCR counsel cited State v. Robinson, 426 S.C. 579, 828 S.E.2d 203 (2019) and further argued that trial counsel failed to argue the factors for impeachment and made no argument regarding Rule 609's distinction between witnesses and a criminal defendant. App. 519.

The PCR court denied relief on this ground. App. 538-41. Judge Taylor found no deficient performance because trial counsel "arduously and effectively argued for the admission of all priors." App. 540. The court also found that, "Trial counsel cannot be deficient when a well-reasoned argument is presented to the trial court, and the court rejects that argument." App. 540. The PCR court conclusorily found no prejudice because trial counsel was not deficient. App. 541.

The PCR court erred because trial counsel's argument was not well-reasoned, arduous, or effective and resulted from a fundamental misunderstanding of the way Rule 609 works. Trial counsel and Judge Cole operated under the mistaken belief that prior convictions needed to be crimes of dishonesty or specifically probative regarding the facts of the case being tried. Trial counsel mistakenly agreed with Judge Cole that prior convictions were not relevant to credibility.

All prior convictions have some probative value regarding credibility. See United States v. Lipscomb, 702 F.2d 1049, 1056-62 (D.C. Cir. 1983) (discussing Congress's recognition of

---

<sup>1</sup> Confusingly, the PCR discussion concerned a prior burglary and a prior drug conviction, but the trial transcript only mentions a drug charge and the child neglect charge.

priors' relevance to credibility when drafting the federal Rule 609). Under South Carolina's version of Rule 609(a)(1), convictions of crimes that carry more than one year imprisonment and are within ten years "shall be admitted, subject to Rule 403." Rule 609(a)(1), SCRE. The second part of the rule includes the dishonesty component. Rule 609(a)(2), SCRE.

Trial counsel performed deficiently when he waived any argument that Summer and Christine's prior convictions had no probative value regarding credibility. In Robinson, the Court held that if only crimes involving dishonesty were allowable, then "carried to its logical extreme, no convictions would ever have impeachment value under Rule 609 unless they were crimes of dishonesty or false statement admitted under Rule 609(a)(2). Rule 609(a)(2) would inevitably swallow Rule 609(a)(1)." Robinson at 599-600, 828 S.E.2d at 213-14.

The convictions at issue in Robinson belonged to the accused and were for strong arm robbery and breaking and entering into cars. Id. The Court reasoned that even though neither were crimes of dishonesty, "that does not rule out the existence of impeachment value in each one of these prior offenses." Id. "It was within the trial court's discretion to conclude that because Robinson has prior convictions for such offenses, he legitimately might not be considered credible." Id.