RECEIVED

Nov 13 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Common Pleas
Appeal from Spartanburg County
Honorable Heath P. Taylor, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-002125

DOMINICK A. THOMPSON,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

D. RUSSELL BARLOW, II
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 105228

O. MCCONNELL HARISON
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 107326

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
803-734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

THE COURT: The event that led to the conditional discharge is totally unrelated to this, is it not?

MR. SMITH: She was charged with the drugs before this incident happened. She was actually on bond before this incident happened.

THE COURT: The charge that resulted in a conditional discharge was unrelated to this event?

MR. SMITH: Yes. She had already been charged at the time of this event. Not pled yet, but she had been charged.

THE COURT: Anything else?

MR. SCHULTZ: My thinking on it – I think it is relevant. In the last proceeding that we did, I, at least, elicited testimony that there was some possession of loud, which is a

more potent form of marijuana. I am not sure if that will come up again. It probably will.

THE COURT: What was going on during the event is one thing. Ordinarily, most everything is part of the res gestae that is admissible. But something that occurred prior to and is unrelated, is a different issue altogether.

MR. SCHULTZ: I still think I should be allowed to impeach her on that. Just because of the nature of the charges.

THE COURT: That is what makes it prejudicial, the nature of the charge unrelated to this case.

MR. SCHULTZ: I think it does bear some relation to the case. I think that there will be evidence of drug use by the parties in the room.

THE COURT: How does that conviction tend to prove that?

MR. SCHULTZ: It tends to prove that she, at least, got arrested and convicted of a drug charge back in 2017.

THE COURT: Anything else? You will agree with me, would you not, that it has nothing to do with the credibility or the likelihood of truth. It's not a crime of dishonesty or false statement or deceit.

MR. SCHULTZ: I don't believe it falls under those exceptions. I do believe that either me or Mr. Smith will elicit testimony that there had been drug use at the hotel.

THE COURT: That is a different issue altogether. I am not excluding that. I am just talking about a prior conviction.

MR. SCHULTZ: It comes out of the truthfulness. If it comes out of the truthfulness, I will agree with the Court.

THE COURT: It doesn't make her testimony more or less likely to be true because of that conviction. Is that what I am understanding you to agree with?

MR. SCHULTZ: That would be my understanding of the way the evidence rules are drafted.

THE COURT: Okay. So then, otherwise, it's admissible if the probative value is not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.

MR. SCHULTZ: Then I would believe the probative value would outweigh that way because of the prejudicial nature of it. There was drug use or about to be drug use at the hotel room that night. That would be my argument there.

THE COURT: Without more, I do find that the probative value of that testimony is substantially outweighed by the nature of unfair prejudice. So it will be excluded unless there are other circumstances that will otherwise make it more probative than prejudicial.

(App. pp. 65, ll. 7 – pp. 69, ll. 19).

Regarding Christine Richard's prior convictions of shoplifting and child neglect³, the following colloquy took place with the Court during Petitioner's second trial:

MR. SMITH: Your Honor, the next witness that the State would be calling also has some prior record. This one I don't believe we are going to oppose it coming in.

THE COURT: Which witness is that?

MR. SMITH: Christine Richard. She will be going after Ms. Hall. She [has] two shopliftings, one from 2013 and one from 2014 that are convictions on her rap sheet.

THE COURT: Even under a broad analysis, that is a crime of dishonesty.

MR. SMITH: Yes, sir, within ten years. We are not disputing that. The only other charge she has is neglect – legal custodian child neglect charge. That is the one that we would object to getting into. She has a shoplifting conviction from 2017 as well. She has three shoplifting convictions in the last ten years. We do not have an argument against those. I think they come in under the rules, but the child neglect charge, we would ask that that be excluded.

THE COURT: All right. Mr. Schultz.

MR. SCHULTZ: Thank you, Your Honor. The child neglect, if it's not under Magistrate Court carries up to ten years. So I would ask that the Court allow me to impeach on that.

THE COURT: Again, if the probative value cannot be substantially outweighed by the advantage of unfair prejudice, those convictions, at least for impeachment, are those that bear upon a person's likelihood and ability to tell the truth. What do you perceive the probative value to be for a conviction of child neglect?

MR. SCHULTZ: If it's child neglect that involved – I am not sure the facts of the case, but if the child neglect involved any consumption of illegal drugs, that can be a reason to bring it up.

³ The PCR evidentiary hearing transcript refers to a prior burglary conviction for Christine Richards, however her prior convictions at issue during Petitioner's trial were child neglect and shoplifting.

THE COURT:

I understand. I will address these issues in the event that the witness testifies in a fashion that would make those convictions relevant, but until that has been shown – number one, I don't think they are relevant. If even if they are, the probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. So we might have to address that again. I am not certain. Nevertheless, right now, the shoplifting charges are probative on the issues of credibility and truth telling, because they are crimes of dishonesty. I will allow those in.

(App. pp. 69, ll. 20 – pp. 71, ll. 17.)

At Petitioner's PCR hearing, Petitioner's trial counsel explained his strategy for arguing for the admittance of the witnesses' prior convictions in the following colloquy:

- Q. Okay. And moving onto the next allegation, it is failure to impeach Summer Hall and Christine Richard based off 403 and 609. Do you recall that?
- A. I do.
- Q. And do you recall the Court – do you recall arguing 403 to the Court?
- A. I don't have anywhere in the transcript that I impeached –
- Q. Well, let me ask you this. Do you recall –
- A. Yeah.
- Q. Do you recall arguing to be allowed to impeach them based off their prior record and Judge Cole ruling against you?
- A. Could you point that out?
- Q. Sure. That's gonna be Page 68. I believe it starts on Line 12.
- A. Thank you.
- Q. I apologize. It's 65 of the record is where it actually starts and it starts at Line 23 or actually it starts at the very beginning.
- A. Could you repeat the question again?
- Q. Well, my, my question was now that you refreshed your memory, do you recall that argument you made to the Court?
- A. I do.
- Q. And what did the judge ultimately find?
- A. Well, I'm looking here. I argued vociferously for it, for its introduction.

- Q. Well –
- A. “I think it does bear some relation to the case.” I said that to the Court.
- Q. But it – but what happened – let me ask you this way. Would you agree with me that the judge determined that their drug charges were not related to this crime? They also did not go to the truth of their statement where prior or there were other witnesses with shoplifting crimes which goes to their truth?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Okay.
- A. Especially – well, for Ms. Richard.
- Q. Right.
- A. For Ms. Richards.
- Q. Okay. And –
- A. In the, in the Court’s ruling, just to answer your question, the Court – and this is from Page 69. Without more, I do find that the probative value of that testimony is substantially outweighed by the nature of unfair prejudice. So, it will be excluded.

(App. pp. 504 – 506).

The record reflects that Trial Counsel argued for the admission of all prior convictions of both witnesses, Summer Hall and Christine Richard at Petitioner’s second trial. Trial Counsel argued that he should be allowed to use Summer’s prior methamphetamine charge to impeach her pursuant to Rule 609(a)(1), SCRE, subject to Rule 403, SCRE. After conducting an analysis subject to Rule 403, the trial court found that the probative value of testimony on that charge was “substantially outweighed by the nature of unfair prejudice.” (App. p. 69). Trial Counsel also argued for the admission of Christine’s prior shoplifting and child neglect convictions. The trial court found the prior shoplifting convictions of Christine fell under rule 609(a)(2)’s exception because those crimes were ones of dishonesty, and they would be admissible without a balancing test pursuant to Rule 403. (App. p. 69 – 70). However, the trial court found that Christine’s prior convictions for child neglect were irrelevant to the case at hand and further failed the balancing

test under Rule 403 as the “probative value being substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.” (App. pp. 70 -71).

Petitioner contends Trial Counsel was deficient for failing to make the proper argument that witnesses’ credibility can be impeached with convictions under Rule 609, SCRE. Specifically, Petitioner contends that Trial Counsel and Judge Cole had a fundamental misunderstanding of the way Rule 609(a)(1) operates alone and in conjunction with Rule 403, in that “trial counsel and Judge Cole operated under the mistaken belief that prior convictions needed to be crimes of dishonesty or specifically probative regarding the facts of the case being tried, [and] trial counsel mistakenly agreed with Judge Cole that prior convictions were not related to credibility”.

Rule 403 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence provides:

Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.

Rule 609(a) of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence addresses the impeachment of by evidence of conviction of crime. Rule 609(a)(1)-(2) provides:

- (a) General Rule. For the purpose of attacking the credibility of a witness:
 - (1) evidence that a witness other than the accused has been convicted of a crime shall be admitted, subject to Rule 403, if the crime was punishable by death or imprisonment in excess of one year under the law under which the witness was convicted, and evidence that an accused has been convicted of such a crime shall be admitted if the court determines that the probative value of admitting this evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect to the accused.
 - (2) evidence that any witness has been convicted of a crime shall be admitted if it involved dishonesty or false statement, regardless of punishment.

Rule 609(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence imposes a time limitation regarding the admission of prior convictions for purposes of impeachment. Rule 609(b) provides:

Evidence of a conviction under this rule is not admissible if a period of more than ten years has elapsed since the date of the conviction or of the release of the witness from the confinement imposed for that conviction, whichever is the later date,

unless the court determines, in the interests of justice, that the probative value of the conviction supported by specific facts and circumstances substantially outweighs its prejudicial effect. However, evidence of a conviction more than 10 years old as calculated herein, is not admissible unless the proponent gives to the adverse party sufficient advance written notice of intent to use such evidence to provide the adverse party with a fair opportunity to contest the use of such evidence.

Petitioner relies on the holding in United States v. Lipscomb⁴, asserting that “all prior convictions have some probative value regarding credibility.” However, the holding in Lipscomb states, “all prior convictions that meet the Rule 609(a)(1) threshold are at least somewhat probative of credibility,” in addition to holding the trial court has discretion to decide how much background information, if any, it needs to perform Rule 403’s balance of the evidence’s probative value against prejudice to the defendant.

Lipscomb involved a defendant who was charged with possession of heroin with intent to distribute. Similarly to Petitioner, Lipscomb was tried twice for his charge with the first trial resulting in a hung jury and the second trial resulting in a conviction. The prosecution and defense offered “radically” different versions of the events leading up to the crime at the second trial compared to the first trial, meaning that credibility was central in the Lipscomb case. In the first trial, Lipscomb testified in his own defense. His credibility was impeached at his first trial by an eight-year-old prior conviction for armed robbery and would have been in the second trial should he had testified. Lipscomb, 702 F.2d at 1053. Defense witnesses’ credibility was also impeached with prior convictions, including a 1980 prior conviction for armed robbery, a 1976 prior conviction for accessory after the fact to manslaughter, and another with a 1976 robbery conviction. The only information regarding the prior convictions of the defense witnesses that the

⁴ United States v. Lipscomb, 702 F.2d 1049 (D.C. Cir. 1983).

district court had before it was the name of the crimes and the dates of their occurrences. Id. at 1054.

Petitioner also relies on State v. Robinson⁵, specifically the balancing test utilized within the case pursuant to State v. Colf⁶. Robinson involved a defendant who was charged with first-degree burglary and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. Robinson's prior convictions for strong arm robbery, first-degree burglary, and breaking and entering automobiles were used to impeach him during his testimony at trial, and Robinson was ultimately convicted. Robinson appealed, and the Court of Appeals found that Robinson's prior convictions were not subject to a meaningful balancing test under Rule 403. His case was remanded to the trial court to conduct an on-record balancing test for certain prior convictions that were used to impeach Robinson's credibility⁷. Robinson again appealed, and the Court of Appeals issued an unpublished opinion holding that although the trial court erred in its application of two of the five Colf factors, the error in application was harmless⁸.

The Supreme Court in Robinson held: (1) the fact that strong arm robbery and breaking and entering automobiles were not crimes involving dishonesty or false statement, by itself, was not dispositive as to whether prior convictions for these offenses lacked impeachment value; (2) trial court did not abuse its discretion in comparing defendant's releases from confinement on prior convictions to dates he committed charged crimes, in considering point in time of prior convictions and defendant's subsequent history; (3) prior convictions for strong arm robbery, first-degree burglary, and breaking and entering into vehicle, were not similar to charged crimes as would

⁵ State v. Robinson, 426 S.C. 579 (2019).

⁶ State v. Colf, 337 S.C. 622 (2000).

⁷ State v. Robinson, Op. No. 2014-UP-068 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Feb. 19, 2014).

⁸ State v. Robinson, Op. No. 2017-UP-065 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Feb. 1, 2017).

warrant exclusion of prior convictions for impeachment purposes; (4) importance of defendant's testimony was not significant, as factor in determining admissibility of prior convictions for impeachment purposes; and (5) credibility of defendant and other witnesses was central to case, as factor in determining admissibility of prior convictions for impeachment purposes. Id.

Robinson outlines the five Colf factors that courts use for a balancing analysis for the admission of prior convictions for purposes of impeachment under Rule 403:

- (1) The impeachment value of the prior crime.
- (2) The point in time of the conviction and the witnesses' subsequent history.
- (3) The similarity between the past crime and the charged crime.
- (4) The importance of the defendant's testimony.
- (5) The centrality of the credibility issue.

Colf, 337 S.C. 622.

Colf involves a defendant charged with burglary and larceny. At Colf's trial, his prior convictions for attempted breaking and entering, attempted larceny, breaking and entering, larceny, and larceny of a vehicle were admissible for purposes of impeachment. The primary issue in the case was that all prior convictions introduced were more than ten years old. The jury ultimately convicted Colf of burglary. Colf appealed, and the Court of Appeals held that the trial court erred in allowing the State to use evidence of Colf's prior breaking and entering conviction and prior larceny conviction for purposes of impeachment, as they were greater than ten years old and there were no specific facts to support a proper balancing test for each prior conviction. The Court of Appeals additionally considered each prior conviction, and the probative value compared to the prejudicial effect thereof. Colf's conviction was reversed and remanded for a new trial⁹.

The State then filed a petition for writ of certiorari to review the Court of Appeal's decision regarding the admissibility of remote crimes. The Supreme Court in Colf affirmed the Court of

⁹ State v. Colf, 332 S.C. 313, 504 S.E.2d 360.

Appeals' opinion as modified and remanded the case for a new trial, stating that the Court of Appeals was not the proper court to conduct the balancing test pursuant to Rule 403, and rather should have remanded it to trial court, where they are in a more appropriate position to conduct the balancing test¹⁰.

Here, the record reflects that the trial court did properly analyze the Colf factors for the purposes of Rule 403, where each necessary prior conviction was subject to a meaningful balancing test to determine admissibility. None of the prior convictions at issue were greater than ten years in age, so Rule 609(b) was not at issue. The trial court went through a lengthy analysis of both Summer and Christine's prior convictions for possession of methamphetamine and child neglect that did not automatically satisfy Rule 609(a)(2), and properly determined that the prior convictions were inadmissible considering their probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. (App. pp. 64, ll. 8 – pp. 71, ll. 12).

Christine's prior convictions for shoplifting were admitted because they satisfy Rule 609(a)(2) as a crime of dishonesty and therefore were not subject to a balancing test under Rule 403, but rather automatically admitted as evidence for purposes of impeachment. Christine's prior conviction for child neglect does not satisfy Rule 609(a)(2), because does not constitute a crime of dishonesty. Under Rule 609(a)(1), the prior conviction for child neglect shall be admitted pursuant to a balancing test under Rule 403, and the conviction must be punishable by death or imprisonment for more than one year. Christine's prior conviction for child neglect does meet the punishment requirement, however it failed under the Rule 403 balancing test as the probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice and was therefore not admitted for purposes of impeachment. (App. pp. 69, ll. 24 – pp. 71, ll. 12).

¹⁰ State v. Colf, 337 S.C. 622, 525 S.E.2d 246.

Summer's prior conviction for possession of methamphetamine does not satisfy Rule 609(a)(2), because it is not a crime of dishonesty. Under Rule 609(a)(1), the prior conviction for possession of methamphetamine shall be admitted pursuant to a balancing test under Rule 403, and the conviction must be punishable by death or imprisonment for more than one year. Summer's prior conviction for methamphetamine does meet the punishment requirement, however it failed under the Rule 403 balancing test as its probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice and was therefore not admitted for purposes of impeachment. (App. pp. 64, ll. 8 – pp. 69, ll. 19).

While Trial Counsel was successful on some and not successful on others, the record shows that Trial Counsel argued arduously and effectively for the admission of all prior convictions of Summer and Christine. Trial Counsel cannot be deficient when a well-reasoned argument is presented to the trial court, and the trial court rejects the argument. See Mazzell v. Evatt, 88 F.3d 263, 269 (4th Cir. 1996). The post-conviction relief court properly found that Trial Counsel effectively argued for the admission of all prior convictions of witnesses Summer Hall and Christine Richard.

Further, although unnecessary considering Petitioner failed to prove deficiency, the post-conviction relief court properly found that Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving prejudice. In a post-conviction relief action, the Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations by a preponderance of the evidence—a mere allegation of ineffective assistance is not sufficient to warrant granting relief. Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC; Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). Petitioner asserts that he was prejudiced by Christine and Summer being impeached in Petitioner's first trial, but not his second trial. This contention is directly refuted by the record and is also meritless.

The fact that [an] issue may have been ruled upon in the first trial does not preclude the defendant from making the same, different, or additional arguments to the trial court on retrial regarding admission or exclusion and does not preclude a different ruling. State v. Woods, 382, S.C. 153, 158, 676 S.E.2d 128, 131 (2009). (“A mistrial is the equivalent of no trial and leaves the cause pending in the [trial] court.”); State v. Smith, 336 S.C. 39, 43-44, 518 S.E.2d 294, 296 (Ct. App. 1999). (“Because a mistrial is the equivalent of no trial, the trial [court] could not rely on any evidentiary rulings from the nugatory proceeding.”). “When a mistrial occurs because of the inability of a jury to agree on a verdict, it is the same as if no trial took place.” Grooms v. Zander, 246 S.C. 512, 514, 144 S.E.2d 909, 910 (1965) (finding that rulings of a trial judge in a proceeding ending in mistrial represent no binding adjudication upon the parties as the mistrial leaves the parties in *status quo ante*).

Petitioner cannot prove prejudice by claiming that his second trial resulted in his conviction while his first trial resulted in a hung jury, as his mistrial was equivalent of having no trial at that point. The fact that different and/or additional prior convictions of defense witnesses were admitted as evidence for purposes of impeachment in Petitioner’s second trial cannot be a ground to prove prejudice, as comparing it to the first trial is fruitless considering it is as if the first trial never occurred. Further, each trial court had the discretion and authority to rule on the admissibility of the evidence presented pursuant to the South Carolina Rules of Evidence, and neither abused their discretion in doing so.

Additionally, prior convictions of defense witnesses were admitted for purposes of impeachment. Demetrius Stevenson’s prior convictions for shoplifting in 2011 and 2013 were admitted under Rule 609(a)(2). Sherill Mills’ prior conviction for shoplifting in 2020 was admitted under Rule 609(a)(2). LaToya Thompson’s prior conviction for shoplifting in 2011 was admitted

under Rule 609(a)(2). Detria Mills' prior conviction for shoplifting in 2016 was admitted under Rule 609(a)(2), while the other shoplifting conviction was excluded for being outside of the ten-year range of Rule 609(b), where the Court found that the probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. (App. p. 273; p. 287; p. 300; p. 314).

The nondisclosure of Summer's prior conviction for possession of methamphetamine and of Christine's prior conviction for child neglect did not prejudice Petitioner, because the nondisclosure did not change the outcome of Petitioner's trial. Christine's credibility was impeached by her prior conviction for shoplifting being introduced, in addition to both her and Summer being impeached with prior inconsistent statements. See State v. Cheeseboro, 346 S.C. 526, 553-554, 552 S.E.2d 300, 314-315 (2001) (finding the nondisclosure of evidence did not deprive Cheeseboro of a fair trial where the evidence had limited impeachment value and the witness was thoroughly impeached with other evidence); See also State v. Gunn, 313 S.C. 124, 137, 437 S.E.2d 75, 82 (1993) ("The exclusion of impeaching evidence is not prejudicial where it has no meaningful impact on a witness's credibility. In light of the abundance of other evidence detailing Roxanne's unabashed disrespect for the law, appellants cannot establish that the trial court's ruling denied them a fair trial." (citations omitted)). Additional impeaching evidence would not have changed the outcome of Petitioner's trial. Duncan v. State, 281 S.C. 435, 439, 315 S.E.2d 809, 811 (1984) (concluding "the *additional* impeaching evidence of the inconsistent statement would not have had a meaningful impact on Davis' credibility." (emphasis added)).

Therefore, the post-conviction relief court properly found that Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving both deficiency and prejudice and the Court should deny certiorari to this issue.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and affirm the post-conviction relief court's denial of relief. Should this Court grant certiorari, Respondent requests the opportunity to brief the issues discussed above fully.

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

D. RUSSELL BARLOW, II
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 105228

O. MCCONNELL HARISON
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 107326